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1.  DEFINITIONS  
  
1.1. What is an implementing body? 
 
An implementing body is a public or private undertaking or body that may be designated by a 
beneficiary, where the beneficiary is a Member State/EEA country or an international organisation, 
to implement the proposed Action. Such designation should be decided upon by the beneficiary 
under its own responsibility, and, if it requires the award of a procurement contract, in compliance 
with the applicable EU and national public procurement rules. 
 
 
1.2. What is the exact definition of a "beneficiary"?  
 
A "beneficiary" is defined as an entity designated as such in a grant agreement signed with INEA. 
Applicants, whose proposal is selected for funding by the Commission, are expected to become the 
beneficiaries of the financial aid awarded for the selected Action. 
 
 
1.3. The Guide for Applicants notes that milestones are "one-off events and therefore the 
means of verification should be easy and concrete. Examples of milestones include: 
publication of a tender, signature of contract, purchase of equipment, completion of 
dissemination measure, etc." What could be an example of a "means of verification"? 
 
Milestones will be established in the Grant Agreement in relation to the activities of the Action.  
Some examples (not exclusive) of verification of milestones:  
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• For a signature of a contract: copy of the signed contract or communication of the protocol 
number of the contract 

• For purchase of equipment: copies of invoice(s) and a list of the purchased items  

• For the creation/operation of a website: Internet address of the website, screenshot of the 
website, quarterly website statistics on page views 

One way to figure out what is a milestone/verification is to ask yourself: "Is this a major event in 
the project lifecycle?" If the answer is yes, then this is a milestone. Then, ask yourself "how do I 
prove that the milestone has been achieved?" This answer is your means of verification. 

 
2.  CALL FOR PROPOSALS/GUIDANCE INFORMATION 
 
2.1. Where can I find the documents, including the Guide for Applicants, related to the 
ongoing calls for proposals? 
 
All documents related to the 2015 CEF Telecom calls for proposals are published on the individual 
call webpages, accessible here:  http://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-facility/cef-
telecom/apply-funding/cef-telecom-calls-proposals-2015. 
 
 
2.2. Is there a contact point in INEA for the current open call for proposals with whom I 
could get in touch with directly?  
 
All call-related questions must be addressed to the call helpdesk (inea-cef-telecom-calls AT 
ec.europa.eu) while the call is open. To respect the principle of equal treatment of all applicants, 
INEA does not reply individually to applicants' questions. Questions received will be made 
anonymous as required and published with their respective answers in these FAQs.  
 
Nevertheless, INEA will respond bilaterally to questions relating to technical problems with the 
eSubmission module as necessary. Other general questions not related to the call will be forwarded 
internally to the competent services for follow-up. 
 
 
2.3. Where can I find information about CEF calls in the area of broadband? 
 
Although part of the 2015 CEF Telecom work programme, broadband is not covered by the calls for 
proposals managed by INEA. More information is available on the Digital Agenda website: 
https://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/broadband-europe. 
 
 
2.4. Can an entity participate in two different calls (ex. eDelivery and eInvoicing) at the 
same time? 
 
Yes. There is no restriction on the number of calls in which an entity can participate, as long as the 
requisite eligibility criteria and conditions of the call are met.  
 
 
2.5. Automated Translation is part of the 2015 CEF Telecom Work Programme, but why 
isn't there a call for proposals open in this area? 
 
Automated Translation is indeed part of the 2015 Work Programme, but the type of financial 
support offered in this area are procurement actions managed by the European Commission. As 
such, they are not covered by the 2015 CEF Telecom call for proposals managed by INEA.  
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2.6. Are there any CEF Telecom calls available in the area of software development 
solutions? 
 
As indicated in the 2015 CEF Telecom Work Programme, the CEF Telecom programme is designed 
to deploy digital service infrastructures across the EU based on mature technical and organisational 
solutions to support exchanges and collaboration between citizens, businesses and public 
authorities. CEF focuses on providing functioning services which are ready to be deployed and 
which will be maintained over time.  
 
The Work Programme lists the Digital Service Infrastructures (DSIs) which will be funded via 
procurement done by European Commission or the calls for proposals managed by INEA. For 
further information on the policy, technical specifications and background development on these 
DSIs, you are invited to consult the CEF section of the Digital Agenda website 
(http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/en/connecting-europe-facility) as well as the Join Up website 
(https://joinup.ec.europa.eu/community/cef/og_page/catalogue-building-blocks).  
 
 
2.7. A new version of the Work Programme annex was uploaded to the call pages on 25 
November. What makes this version different than the one that was originally posted for 
the launch of the calls? 
 
The main difference, besides the omission of a date on the front cover, concerns some minor 
stylistic changes to the eHealth section (3.1.11). The information contained in the eHealth call text 
did not require any updates as a result.  
 
2.8. Where can I find information about my national contact point for my call area? 

The list of national contact points for CEF Telecom is available on each call webpage in the 
"Background documents & useful info" section. For some Member States, a breakdown of contacts 
per DSI area is included; for others it is not. Please contact the person(s) listed for your country for 
more information.  

2.9. Is the CEF Regulation also the legal basis for CEF Telecom, in addition to CEF 
Transport and CEF Energy? 
 
Yes. CEF Regulation (No 1316/2013) establishes the Connecting Europe Facility (CEF), which sets 
the conditions, methods and procedures for providing funding to support projects of interest to the 
EU in the transport, telecommunications and energy infrastructure sectors. It seeks to speed up 
investment in trans-European networks and to leverage funding from the public and private 
sectors, as well as setting out the amount of money to be made available from 2014-2020 and for 
which areas. It is also the legal basis for the CEF Telecom calls.  
 
 
2.10. Can an application for an open CEF Telecom call be submitted after the deadline for 
consideration at a later stage? Is there a second round of applications?  

An application for a CEF Telecom call must be completed and submitted before the call deadline, as 
specified in the respective call text. Any applications submitted after the call deadline will be 
considered inadmissible. Any future calls may differ as far the objectives and call scope and 
therefore proposals prepared for current calls may no longer meet the requirements, objectives 
and conditions of the call. 

 
 
3.  ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA/APPLICANTS 
 
3.1. What are the requirements/eligibility criteria for an organisation to be a partner of a 
consortium? Are there any limitations regarding which organisation can be a consortium 
member? 
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Applications under CEF Telecom 2015 calls can be presented the following types of applicants: 
• One or more EU Member States, Norway or Iceland 
• With the agreement of the Member States concerned (or Norway or Iceland), international 
organisations, joint undertakings, or public or private undertakings or bodies established in 
Member States (or Norway or Iceland). 
 
Participation of applicants from non-EU countries other than Norway and Iceland is also possible 
under certain conditions (see also questions 3.7 and 6.5). 
 
Applicants must also comply with the selection criteria by demonstrating they have the financial 
and operational capacity to carry out the proposed Action, where relevant. 
 
Please note that the call texts may include additional specific eligibility criteria applicable for 
applicants or consortia. 
 
 
3.2. Is the eligibility of applicants limited only to organisations currently participating in 
similar projects funded by the European Commission? 
 
No, there is no such limitation.  
 
 
3.3. Can a public body (for example a governmental agency) be one of the partners in a 
project consortium? 
 
Yes. There are no restrictions for public entities - either national, local or regional ones - to 
participate in proposals under these calls, provided they meet the applicable eligibility and selection 
criteria as specified in the respective call for proposals.  
 
 
3.4. Do applicants which are not Member States have to obtain the endorsement of a 
Member State to be eligible? 
  
Yes. All applicants that are not Member States, Norway or Iceland, must obtain the agreement of a 
Ministry through signature of the application form part A2.3.  
 
 
3.5. If two applicants originate from the same Member State, does each one have to 
obtain the Member State agreement as requested in application form part A2.3? 
  
Yes. This form must be completed for each applicant requiring Member State agreement, even if 
they are from the same Member State.  
 
 
3.6. In case of a multi-applicant proposal, do all applicants or only the coordinator have 
to sign application form part A2.2? 
 
Application form part A2.2 must be completed and validated (dated, signed and (if applicable) 
stamped) by each applicant of a proposal, and each form must be scanned and uploaded in the 
TENtec eSubmission module. Any applicant(s) which fail(s) to do so may not be considered 
admissible.  
 
 
3.7. Are private entities from acceding states and candidate countries  eligible to apply 
for CEF Telecom grants? 
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Section 8.1 of the call text states that "acceding states and candidate countries benefiting from a 
pre-accession strategy may also participate in [CEF Telecom] in accordance with agreements 
signed with the EU. As at the time of the publication of this call, no such agreements have been 
signed, same conditions as for third countries apply to acceding states and candidate countries." 
 
Entities from acceding states and candidate countries may therefore participate under the same 
conditions as third countries and third country entities, where their participation is necessary to 
achieve the project objectives and where duly motivated. According to the CEF Regulation, third 
country entities may not receive funding, except where their participation is deemed indispensable 
to achieve the objectives of a given project of common interest. 
 
 
3.8. Can regional and local governments apply for the call? Would they still need the 
explicit support of at the national (Member State) level?  
 
Both regional and local governments may apply for funding, as long as they comply with the 
eligibility criteria for applicants and actions proposed for funding, as laid down in the Work 
Programme and the call for proposals. 
 
In both cases, the approval of the relevant Ministry (application form part A2.3) is necessary. See 
questions 3.1, 3.3 and section 6 below.  
 
 
3.9. Can proposals be submitted by entities which do not have legal personality under 
the applicable national law? 
 
Yes. Section 8.1 "Eligible applicants" of the call text states: "Proposals may be submitted by 
entities which do not have legal personality under the applicable national law, provided that their 
representatives have the capacity to undertake legal obligations on their behalf and offer guarantee 
for the protection of the EU's financial interests equivalent to that offered by legal persons. 
Proposals submitted by natural persons are not eligible." In case an applicant does not have legal 
personality, the statutes of the applicant (or relevant abstracts) must be attached to the 
application to demonstrate the capacity to undertake legal obligations. 
 
 
3.10. What is the ideal size of a consortium?  
 
There is no ideal size of consortium, as this depends on various factors such as the call to which 
the application is submitted, the activities planned to meet the objectives of the call, and the 
amount of CEF funding being requested. When formulating a proposal, applicants must however 
respect any specific eligibility criteria regarding the consortium outlined in Section 8.2 "Eligible 
actions" of the call text. 
 
 
3.11. What would be the role of SMEs as participants in CEF projects? 
 
There is no specific role or conditions for SMEs under the CEF Programme. SMEs are treated as any 
other applicants and must respect the eligibility criteria of the call.  
 
 
3.12. Does the involvement of a government in a consortium give a higher chance that 
the proposed Action will be funded? 
 
No. As required by the CEF Regulation and the calls, a proposed Action must demonstrate Member 
State support through signature of the application form part A2.3. In addition, question 2.5 of 
application form part D requires the applicant to describe the extent to which the proposed Action 
demonstrates support from national authorities, industries and NGOs when relevant. Having a 
government entity as an applicant and member of the consortium may make this support easier to 
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justify. However, the fact that a government is an applicant in a proposal does not itself influence 
the evaluation of the proposal.   
 
 
3.13. Are public research organisations considered to be public administrations? Or are 
they representatives of public administrations and then eligible as proposers?  
 
This depends on the organisation's own acts of establishment, which indicate what type of 
organisation it is, and how it fits in the organisational structure of a public administration. Under 
the CEF Telecom calls, there is no specific legal entity category for public administrations. Instead, 
entities may be defined as public bodies. In the Guide for Applicants, the glossary gives the 
following definition of a public sector body: "Regional or local authorities, body governed by public 
law  or association formed by one or several such authorities or one or several such bodies 
governed by public law, international organisations. A body governed by public law is any body that 
is: 
 
(a) established for the specific purpose of meeting needs in the general interest, not having an 
industrial or commercial character; and 
(b) having legal personality; and 
(c) financed, for the most part by the State, or regional or local authorities, or other bodies 
governed by public law; or subject to management supervision by those bodies; or having an 
administrative, managerial or supervisory board, more than half of whose members are appointed 
by the State, regional or local authorities or by other bodies governed by public law." 
 
 
3.14. Will a digital signature of the legal representative be considered valid for 
application form part A2.2? 
 
To be considered admissible, proposals must include scanned versions of the signed application 
form part A2.2. If a document uses an e-signature, please note that it must be verifiable in 
accordance with the European Commission's list of trusted providers of certifications (see 
https://ec.europa.eu/information_society/policy/esignature/trusted-list/tl-mp.xml), as well as the 
list of internationally trusted providers. A free, e-signature service tool provided by the European 
Commission is available at https://joinup.ec.europa.eu/asset/sd-dss/asset_release/dss-450. 

If a document was electronically signed, a printable version of the document must be uploaded into 
the TENtec eSubmission module.  
 
 
3.15. Can a Member State ministry which is also an official contact point for the 
certification of applicants participate in a call as a member of a consortium? 

Yes. Member States are eligible to apply for calls under the CEF Telecom. There is no conflict of 
interest for a Member State ministry to both grant approvals for call applicants (i.e. application 
form part A2.3) and participate as an applicant under the same call.   
 

3.16. Can research institutions participate in the CEF Telecom calls and if so how can 
they find partners? 
 
Research institutions may apply for funding, as long as they comply with the eligibility criteria for 
applicants and actions proposed for funding as laid down in the work programme and the call for 
proposals. Research activities per se are however not funded under the CEF programme. INEA and 
the Commission do not provide assistance to potential applicants in finding project partners. 
Potential applicants can also contact their national contact points, the list of which is available on 
each call webpage.  
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3.17. Our organisation is a limited company that is 100% owned by public bodies, can 
only provide its services to its owners (public bodies) and is established through a 
specific law. Do we qualify as a public body? 

In the Guide for Applicants, the glossary gives the following definition of a public sector body:  

"Regional or local authorities, body governed by public law  or association formed by one or several 
such authorities or one or several such bodies governed by public law, international organisations. 
A body governed by public law is any body that is: 

(a) established for the specific purpose of meeting needs in the general interest, not having an 
industrial or commercial character; and 

(b) having legal personality; and 

(c) financed, for the most part by the State, or regional or local authorities, or other bodies 
governed by public law; or subject to management supervision by those bodies; or having an 
administrative, managerial or supervisory board, more than half of whose members are appointed 
by the State, regional or local authorities or by other bodies governed by public law." 

According to the information you provide, the limited company would in this case be considered a 
public body. Applicants should verify their legal status against the applicable national legislation 
and the definition of public sector bodies provided in the Guide for Applicants. Should clarifications 
on the legal status be necessary, applicants may be contacted during the evaluation of proposal.  
 
 
3.18. My ministry is applying for a call (eInvoicing) which requires a consortium 
composition of "at least 5 entities from one or more Member State(s), at least half of 
which should be public entities." Would other "colleague" ministries in my Member State 
– such as the Ministry of Health, Ministry of the Interior, etc. – each be considered as a 
separate applicant?  

Yes. In this case, four additional "colleague" ministries from the same Member State would each be 
counted as an applicant in the consortium and would suffice to fulfil the minimum consortium 
criteria as indicated above. Naturally, such ministries should have distinct tasks and roles in 
carrying out the proposal in question. 
 

3.19. Is a consortium application the same as a multi-applicant proposal? In other 
words, should each member of a consortium be treated as an applicant in their own 
right? 

Yes, each member is to be treated as an applicant in their own right. A consortium of applicants 
may wish to draw up a consortium agreement, if the application has been successful, that will be 
used to regulate relations between beneficiaries in the consortium during the implementation of the 
project. 
 
 
3.20. Are separate departments of the same Ministry considered to be separate entities, 
especially if they have different roles in a proposed Action? 

Regardless of the role they play in a proposed Action, two (or more) departments under the same 
Ministry will not be counted as separate entities since they share the same legal identity as the 
Ministry. As such, they also will not be considered as separate applicants for other purposes, i.e. 
meeting the eligibility criterion regarding consortium composition. 

 
3.21. Can we sign the Legal Entity Identification, Financial Identification and Annex B-1 
forms digitally?  
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Digital signatures for these forms will be accepted provided that they are secure electronic 
signatures. Therefore they need to be either Qualified Electronic Signatures or issued through a 
valid certificate that is verifiable by INEA. See also Q3.14.  

 
4.  ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA/PROJECTS 
 
4.1. Are there any specific requirements for Member States to be eligible for CEF funding, 
specifically in terms of content and delivery? 

No. There are no specific requirements for Member States as such. Like all other applicants of a 
call, Member States must also be able to comply with the eligibility criteria for actions and 
applicants as laid down in the work programme and the calls for proposals (see section 8 of the call 
texts) and must meet the objectives of the call.  
 
 
4.2. Can my organisation submit more than one proposal (with the same or different 
partners) per call?  
 
Yes. There is no limit to the number of proposals which can be submitted by the same organisation 
as long as this organisation is eligible to apply under the respective calls and has the financial and 
operational capacity to carry out all proposed Actions. Please note however that the same 
application cannot be submitted under different calls.   
 
 
4.3. Is there a possibility for the proposal to exceed the period indicated in the call for 
proposals? For example, if the call mentions the indicative duration of 1 year, can the 
proposal be longer? 
 
Where the call text specifies an indicative duration in section 12.2.2, the proposal may be shorter 
or longer than the specified duration within certain limits. For example, for the call with indicative 
duration of 1 year, a proposal of 15 months would be acceptable. Please note that a call may 
specify a maximum duration. In such case, only proposals with a shorter duration may be 
submitted. In any case, the duration of the proposed Action must be commensurate to the 
proposed activities and their scope, which will be evaluated during the evaluation. 
 
 
4.4. Is there a list of projects of common interest for the CEF Telecom call? 
 
Please see the Annex of the CEF Telecom Guidelines (Regulation (EU) No 283/2014 – available on 
the call webpages) for a list of the projects of common interest for digital service infrastructures 
(DSIs) covered by the CEF Telecom programme. 
 
 
 
5.  IMPLEMENTING BODIES/AFFILIATED ENTITIES 
 
5.1. In case of a multi-applicant proposal, can one applicant designate another to be the 
implementing body for an activity?  
 
The possibility to designate implementing bodies only applies to applicants that are Member 
States/EEA counties and international organisations, which may not implement an action 
themselves. Other applicants may not designate implementing bodies.  
 
In case of a multi-applicant proposal, an organisation that is an applicant and a partner in the 
consortium cannot be designated as implementing body by another applicant in the same proposal. 
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5.2. Does an implementing body need a separate agreement from a Member State (i.e. 
signature of the application form part A2.3)? 
 
No, this is not necessary. The Member State simply needs to fill the administrative information of 
an implementing body in this part of the application form. 
 
 
5.3. Does an implementing body need to submit application form parts A2.1, A2.2, the 
legal entity form, financial entity form and/or Annex B-1 required of applicants? 
 
No. None of the above-mentioned forms are required for the implementing body. However, the 
Member State/EEA country which is designating the implementing body must include the 
implementing body's administrative information in the application form part A2.3. 
 
 

5.4. Is a tendering process necessary for the designation of an implementing body by a 
beneficiary and should it have already been carried out before the proposal is submitted?  

Whether a tendering process is necessary for the designation of an implementing body depends on 
the national public procurement laws of the individual Member States. See also question below. 

 

5.5. If a tendering process for an implementing body is necessary but has not yet been 
completed before the proposal is submitted, can the resulting implementing body be 
added later?  

An implementing body may be added during the preparation of the grant agreement or after the 
signature of the grant agreement. If the award of a contract is expected, information on the 
ongoing tendering process must be provided in the application. See also question above and Article 
II.9 of the model grant agreement. 

 

5.6. Is an implementing body required to provide cost statements in the application? 

No. This is not required since the costs should already be indicated by the Member State 
submitting the application as part of the proposed Action's budget.    
 
 
 
6.  MEMBER STATES' SUPPORT 
 
6.1. Is there any other formal procedure to demonstrate a Member State's endorsement 
other than completing application form part A2.3, dating, signing and stamping it? 
  
No. Applicants may provide further supporting documents in addition to application form A2.3, but 
the duly dated, stamped and signed application form part A2.3 itself is mandatory for the 
application.   
 
 
6.2. Which authority in the Member State provides approval for proposals under CEF 
Telecom? 
 
Applications under CEF Telecom must obtain the support of the Ministry competent in the area of 
the given policy and/or the CEF. Note that a Member State may have a particular process in place 
for providing its approval for proposals under CEF Telecom. A list of Member State contact points 
designated for this purpose is available on each of the individual call webpages. 
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6.3. Does application form part A2.3 have to be completed with the details of the Member 
State providing support or could this also be provided in a letter of support? 
 
Application form part A2.3 must be completed with the details of the entity providing Member State 
support. Letters of support will not be considered as fulfilling the requirement for the Member State 
approval. Please see questions 6.1, 3.4 and 3.5.  
 
 
6.4. Are all parts of the application form part A2.3 compulsory? 
 
The purpose of application form part A2.3 is to collect different types of information required by the 
CEF Regulation. In the TENtec eSubmission module, the sections to be filled in will appear based on 
the legal status of the applicant:  
 
1. In cases where the applicant is a Member State or an international organisation which, in line 
with Article 2(11) of the CEF Regulation, decides to designate a public or private undertaking or 
body to implement the action concerned on its behalf ("implementing body"), details of such 
implementing body. This section of the form is not mandatory and only needs to be filled in if an 
implementing body is designated.  
 
2. In case the applicant is not a Member State/EEA country, the section on the agreement of the 
Member State/EEA country concerned must be filled in. Any applicants that do not provide an 
agreement of a Member State concerned will not be considered eligible. 
 
See also the previous questions in this section. 
 
 
6.5. Section 8.1 of the call text indicates that applications involving participation of third 
countries/third country entities must contain the agreement of the Member State 
concerned by the proposed Action, a letter of support from the European partner 
involved in the proposal, as well as a declaration on why the participation of the 
applicant is indispensable. Can the letter of support and the declaration be considered 
one and the same document? 
 
Yes. Annex B-IV of application form part B requires a declaration from the EU/EEA applicant in the 
proposal on why the participation of the third countries/third country entities is necessary and/or 
indispensable. Completion of this annex is mandatory for any third countries/third country entities.  
 
 
6.6. Do Member States have any procedures for private sector entities to obtain their 
endorsement? 
 
Each Member State may have a specific procedure in place for the endorsement of proposals 
submitted under CEF Telecom, regardless of the nature of applicants in a proposal. Any potential 
applicants should contact their Member State contact point (list available on each call webpage) for 
more information. 
 
 
6.7. My proposal includes several EU Member States. Does application form part A2.3 
have to be signed by all of the concerned countries or only by the contact point in the EU 
Member State where the project leader is registered to do business? 
 
The call for proposals in its section 8.1 stipulates that an applicant must obtain the approval of a 
Member State concerned. As noted in the Guide for Applicants, application form part A2.3 must be 
completed, signed and stamped by the concerned EU Member State per applicant.  
 
 
6.8. Does the Member State approval of the application confirm only that the 
entity/consortium entities exist and is/are represented by the person(s) as claimed or 
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does the approval imply that the Member State endorses the application and its potential 
deployment? 

Under the CEF Regulation, Member States are requested to provide proof of their agreement for 
the submission of those proposals asking for CEF funding which do not originate from their 
administrations. Such agreement allows the Commission to make sure that the Member State(s) 
concerned by a given proposal is duly informed of the proposal that is to be, or is being 
implemented, on its territory and/or implemented by a beneficiary established therein.  The 
Member State approval therefore constitutes more of an endorsement of the application. 
 
 
6.9. Is the person indicated on the Member State contact points list the exact same 
person who is approving the proposals on behalf of the Member State? 
 
As explained in Q6.2 above, each Member State may have a particular process in providing the 
approval of CEF Telecom proposals, including determining who is providing the signature on 
relevant parts of the application form. In some cases, the person listed on the contact points list 
may not be the same person actually signing the proposal(s). Therefore, applicants should check 
with their relevant national contact person to understand what the specific process is – and who is 
responsible for it – in their respective countries.  

6.10. For which type of applicants is the application form part A2.3 mandatory? Do all 
applicants need approval of an EU Member State? 

Signature of the application form part A2.3 by an EU Member State/EEA country is required for 
each applicant if they are a public or private undertaking or body established in a EU 
Member State/EEA or in a third country, an international organisation, a joint 
undertaking or EEIG or an applicant third country.  

The application form part A2.3 must be completed, signed and stamped by the concerned EU 
Member State/EEA country for each applicant (as noted above), even if there is more than one 
applicant from the same country. It must be scanned and uploaded as a supporting document 
before proposal submission. 

If the application form part A2.3 is not signed by the concerned Member State, the proposal will be 
considered not compliant with the eligibility criteria specified in the call text and will not be 
evaluated. In the case of a multi-applicant proposal, the applicant concerned may be excluded from 
the proposal. 

Please see the Guide for Applicants for more information. 

 
 
7.  COMPLIANCE WITH EU LAW 
 
 
 
8.  SELECTION CRITERIA: FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL CAPACITY 
 
8.1. Do all applicants have to demonstrate their financial capacity? 
 
No. The requirement for applicants to demonstrate their financial capacity does not apply to EU 
Member States/EEA countries, third countries, public bodies established in the EU/EEA countries 
and European Economic Interest Groupings (EEIG), which are 50% owned by public body(ies) as 
well as joint undertakings that qualify as public sector undertakings or bodies established in the 
EU. 
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8.2. What documents should be submitted to demonstrate an applicant's financial 
capacity? 
 
The documents to be provided depend on the grant amount requested by the applicant and/or 
whether the applicant is a newly created entity. These are described in section 9.1 of each call for 
proposals and in the application form part B, as follows: 
 
Requested grants less than €60,000 (per applicant): 

• a declaration on the applicant's honour 
 
Requested grants equal or higher than €60,000 (per applicant): 

• A completed financial capacity check form available on each individual call page, accessible 
via the following link: http://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-facility/cef-
telecom/apply-funding/cef-telecom-calls-proposals-2015 

• The profit and loss account + balance sheet for the last financial year for which the 
accounts were closed. (For newly created entities, a letter of support obtained from a third 
party.) 

 
Requested grants higher than €750,000 (per applicant): 

• A completed financial capacity check form available on each individual call page, accessible 
via the following link: http://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-facility/cef-
telecom/apply-funding/cef-telecom-calls-proposals-2015 

• an audit report from an approved external auditor certifying the accounts for the last 
financial year available. 
 

 
8.3. Is it compulsory to demonstrate the financial capacity of non-governmental 
organisations applying for grants over €60,000? 
 
This depends on the legal status of the organisation. The requirement for applicants to 
demonstrate their financial capacity does not apply to EU Member States/EEA countries, third 
countries, public bodies established in the EU/EEA countries and European Economic Interest 
Groupings (EEIG), which are 50% owned by public body(ies) as well as joint undertakings that 
qualify as public sector undertakings or bodies established in the EU.  
 
See also question 8.2.  
 
 
8.4. Should the profit and loss account provided be the one for the organisation as a 
whole or just for the department carrying out the work? 
 
The financial information used to establish the financial capacity check should reflect the financial 
situation of the entire organisation acting as an applicant.  
 
 
8.5. Does an organisation that is a public entity only have to complete the cover page of 
the Financial Capacity Check form and then leave all of the other worksheets blank?  
 
An organisation that is a public body established in the EU/EEA country is exempt from 
demonstrating financial capacity. Thus, the Financial Capacity Check form does not need to be 
completed for such entities.  
 
 
8.6. To demonstrate its financial capacity, which documents should be submitted by a 
recently established private entity that has no audited accounts and is acting as the sole 
applicant in a proposal for a grant of less than €60,000? Is a declaration of honour 
sufficient for this purpose? 
 
Yes, in such case a declaration on honour is sufficient. See also question 8.2. 
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8.7. To demonstrate its financial capacity, which documents should be submitted by a 
recently established private entity that has no audited accounts and is acting a part of a 
consortium for a proposal for a grant of less than €60,000? Is a declaration of honour 
sufficient for this purpose? 
 
Yes, in such case a declaration on honour is sufficient. 
 
 
8.8. Does the amount of €750,000 (as a threshold regarding financial capacity check) 
refer to the global project costs, the costs of each applicant or just the costs of the 
requested grant? 
 
In multi-applicant proposals, the threshold of €750,000 applies to the CEF Telecom funding 
requested by the applicant.  
 
 
8.9. For situations in which a consortium of several applicants is applying for CEF 
Telecom funding for more than €60,000, what are the requirements regarding each 
applicant's individual financial capacity? Is it sufficient for those applicants who will 
receive less than a €60,000 grant to provide just a declaration of honour? 
 
Yes. Any applicant must demonstrate its financial capacity. Those requesting less than €60,000 of 
CEF Telecom funding only need to provide a declaration of honour.  
 
See also question 8.2. 
 
 
8.10. Application form part B (Financial Capacity Check) requests certified financial 
accounts and statements to be annexed to the forms. As a non-profit organisation, we do 
not have such accounts/statements by law as we only have an annual tax declaration. 
What supporting documents should we provide and should we include a written 
statement that we do not have certified accounts? 
 
If, according to relevant national legislation, a non-profit organisation is not required to have 
certified financial accounts and statements, please fill the Financial Capacity Check form according 
to the financial statements available (e.g. a tax declaration) and attach these to the application. A 
written explanation of the requirements on financial statements for non-profit organisations should 
also be included with the proposal. However, in case an organisation requests more than €750,000, 
an audit report produced by an approved external auditor must be submitted instead. 
 
 
8.11. Section 9 of the call text notes that "…the requirement for applicants to 
demonstrate their financial capacity does not apply to Member States...". Does that mean 
that an applicant located in an EU Member State does not need to have its financial 
capacity evaluated, even if the grant value more than €60,000? 
 
In this context "Member State" refers to an actual national ministry or department - not the 
location of an applicant. Thus, depending on the type of entity of the applicant, entities established 
in EU Member States may have to prove their financial capacity. Please see questions 8.1 and 8.2, 
as well as section 4.3 of the Guide for Applicants for more information.   
 
 
8.12. According to Section 9.1 of the call text, grants for an action equal to or above 
€750,000 must submit an audit report. Is this required for each beneficiary of the 
consortium or only the coordinating applicant? 
 
The audit report is required for each beneficiary of the consortium. See also question 8.2.   
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8.13. We are a large organization. For the completion of the financial capacity check 
form, should we include our consolidated financial data or just the holding financial 
data? 

In this case, the financial data to be supplied depends on who is the actual legal entity of the 
applicant of the call. If the holding company is the applicant in a proposal, then the Financial 
Capacity Check form should be filled with the financial data of the holding company. 

 
9.   AWARD CRITERIA  
 
 
 
10. FORM OF GRANT 
 
10.1. Where can I find the form of grant applicable to the call for proposals? 
 
The applicable form of grant is referred to in section 12.2 of each individual call for proposals. All 
CEF Telecom 2015 calls for proposals take the form of reimbursement of a specified proportion of 
eligible costs actually incurred. 
 
 
10.2. Is there any difference between co-funding rates applicable to private/public 
entities and NGOs?  
 
No. Regulation (EU) No 1315/2013 and Regulation (EU) No 283/2014, which form the legal basis of 
the current calls for proposals, do not differentiate co-funding rates by legal status or type of 
applicants. 
 
 
10.3. Since the 2015 CEF Telecom Work Programme eliminated lump sums, is there now 
an estimate of the maximum amount a funding a proposal can request or at least an 
indication of an appropriate proposal size?   
 
Expected size of proposals submitted under Public Open Data call is €500,000. Other calls do not 
include an indicative size of the proposals to be submitted.  
 
The size of the proposal and the requested CEF Telecom funding must be commensurate to the 
activities of the proposed Action and will be assessed under the 'Quality and efficiency of the 
implementation' criterion. 
 
 
11. ELIGIBLE COSTS 
 
11.1. Could you specify how to calculate indirect costs (overheads): should they be a 
percentage of direct costs (and what percentage) or something else? 
 
Indirect costs are calculated on the basis of a fixed flat rate of 7% of all the direct eligible costs 
minus subcontracting costs.  
 
In the table on the indicative breakdown of estimated eligible costs of the proposed Action in the 
'Costs' section of the TENtec eSubmission module, indirect costs per activity will be calculated 
automatically once direct eligible costs per activity, per year, and subcontracting costs are entered 
in the table.  
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11.2. Would staff/personnel costs be considered as eligible costs?  
 
Yes, provided that such costs meet the general conditions for eligibility of costs as outlined in 
Article II.19 of the model grant agreement. Personnel costs will have to have been incurred in 
relation to the activities of the proposed Action within the dates indicated in the grant agreement in 
order to be eligible. 
 
 
11.3. Are in-kind contributions from third parties considered as eligible costs? 
 
No. The model grant agreement excludes in-kind contributions from third parties from the eligible 
costs in Article II.19 (4) (i). Please refer to the model grant agreement on each individual call 
webpage. See also question 11.9. 
 
 
11.4. Does the financial support cover management costs (project manager etc.) for 
proposals under a CEF Telecom call? If so, then what are the limitations? 
 
Yes. Management costs including staff costs would generally be considered as eligible costs, 
provided they comply with general conditions for eligibility of costs outlined in Article II.19 of the 
model grant agreement (available on each individual call webpage) for more information. 
 
 
11.5. We were intending to apply for CEF Telecom funding when we heard that the calls 
were going to be opened in June 2015. Our project was since launched before the official 
call opening at the end of October. Can we still apply for funding to cover the 
development and the activities that we have already carried out? 
  
As specified in section 12.2.2 of the call text, costs will be eligible at the earliest from the date on 
which an application is submitted. The principle of non-retroactivity is explained section 12.1.3 of 
each individual call text. It notes that "Pursuant to Article 130 of the Financial Regulation, no 
grants may be awarded retrospectively for actions already completed. A grant may be awarded for 
an action which has already begun provided that the applicant(s) can demonstrate the need for 
starting the action prior to the signature of the grant agreement." Costs will be eligible at the 
earliest from the date on which an application is submitted. 
 
You may still apply for funding for your project, but the earliest date from which the costs will be 
eligible is the date on which an application is submitted. 
 
 
11.6. Are equipment costs (such as IT hardware) considered to be eligible costs? 
 
Yes, the call texts (article 12.2.2) specify that the full costs of purchase of equipment and 
infrastructure which is treated as capital expenditure is an eligible cost based on Article 8.4 of the 
CEF Regulation, provided such costs meet the general conditions of the eligibility of costs as laid 
down in Article II.19 of the model grant agreement. Depreciation costs however are not eligible for 
purchased equipment. 
 
 
11.7. Would a public university be able to claim VAT as an eligible cost?   
 
According to section 12.2.2 of the call text and in line with the first subparagraph of the Article 
8(7) of the CEF Regulation and Article 126(3)(c) of the Financial Regulation, VAT paid by 
beneficiaries that are public bodies established in Member States is, in principle, ineligible. This 
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would also apply to public institutions such as universities or institutes of higher learning which are 
publicly funded.  
 
 
11.8. We are supported by our industry partners with promotion – would this be 
considered an in-kind contribution, and as such an eligible cost? 
 
Article II.19.4 "Ineligible costs" of the model grant agreement stipulates that "contributions in-kind 
from third parties" shall not be considered eligible. See also question 11.3. 
 
 
11.9. What is considered an average budget for a coordinator in a proposal? Would 
€300,000 be an adequate amount? 
 
There is no baseline figure for the budget reserved for the tasks of coordinator of a proposal. The 
amount of budget requested by a coordinator depends on the overall tasks of the coordinator and 
what activities the proposed Action intends to cover.  
 
 
11.10. Is there a maximum amount of funding which can be requested by each proposal 
or some indication of an appropriate value? 
 
The current calls do not stipulate the maximum amount of the funding which can be requested by 
proposals, except of course that it cannot exceed the overall amount of funding available for the 
call itself. The requested funding must be proportionate to the scope of activities addressed by the 
proposal.  
 
Please note that for some calls (e.g. Public Open Data and eHealth) an indication of expected size 
of proposals is included, respectively in the call text and the Info Day presentation available here: 
https://ec.europa.eu/inea/en/news-events/newsroom/cef-telecom-virtual-info-day-presentations-
available. 
 
 
11.11. Could costs incurred by third parties be considered as eligible costs for proposals 
selected under these calls? 
 
Eligible costs are the costs actually incurred by the beneficiaries and which meet the eligibility 
criteria as laid down in Article II.19 of the model grant agreement available on each individual call 
webpage. Costs incurred by implementing bodies and/or affiliated entities designated by 
beneficiaries in the grant agreement may be considered eligible provided that they also meet the 
eligibility criteria laid down in the grant agreement. 
 
 
11.12. How are general costs such as energy, rent, phone/Internet, salaries applied to 
the different projects? 

Section II.19.2 "Eligible direct costs" and section II.19.3 "Indirect costs" of the model grant 
agreement provide detailed descriptions of what is considered to be an eligible and an indirect cost, 
as well as the specific eligibility conditions linked to these costs. Indirect costs will be reimbursed 
on the basis of a 7% flat rate of all eligible direct costs (except subcontracting costs). See also the 
related questions in this section.  

 
11.13. Would capacity building, implementation, deployment and governance be covered 
as eligible costs under the current calls?  
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The priorities of the each call are defined in section 3 of the call text. Any activities of a proposed 
Action must support the objectives as indicated in the call text, and all eligible costs should be 
linked to these overall objectives. The type of eligible costs are described in the model grant 
agreement (Article II.19) and include, for example, personnel costs, travel costs, full costs of 
equipment and infrastructure, service contract, supplies, etc. Capacity building, implementation, 
deployment and governance in itself would not be considered as eligible costs. However, if these 
activities are covered under the priority of the specific call, the costs associated to this activity may 
be eligible.  
 
 
11.14. Are the costs of coordination carried out by the coordinator of a consortium 
reimbursable as eligible costs?  
 
Yes, such costs are eligible. Please bear in mind that during the evaluation processes the 
proportionality of proposed activities and estimated costs will be thoroughly analysed and 
inconsistencies may lead to low scoring against the criterion of quality and efficiency of 
implementation. 
 
 
11.15. Is it possible for one of the applicants in a multi-applicant proposal not to 
contribute any of its own funds to the eligible costs of the proposed Action? Would it be 
possible for a private body not to contribute any funds but to request 100% of co-
financing for the costs it incurs, while a public body would contribute own resources and 
request a lower percentage of co-financing?  
 
Yes, it is possible for an applicant to participate in a proposal without contributing any of its own 
sources to the overall eligible costs of a proposal. In the application form part A3.2 CEF Telecom 
financing and at least one other source of financing for the entire proposal must be indicated. The 
distribution of CEF funds among applicants is up to the consortium itself. 
 
 
11.16. Can costs for software licenses be considered as eligible costs? If so, how can 
these costs be included in the budget of a proposed Action? 

Yes, provided such costs meet the general conditions of the eligibility of costs as laid down in 
Article II.19 of the model grant agreement and have been incurred in relation to the activities of 
the proposed Action during its duration.  
 
These costs should be included in the costs table of the application form part A3.2, linked to a 
specific activity.  
 
 
11.17. We have developed a software platform and would like to charge a license fee to 
our clients for its use and to cover our maintenance costs. In the framework of this 
project, we would deliver the license to ourselves. Would these license fees then be 
considered as eligible costs?  
 
As noted in Q11.16 above, license fees would be considered as eligible costs provided such costs 
meet the general conditions of the eligibility of costs as laid down in Article II.19 of the model grant 
agreement and have been incurred in relation to the activities of the proposed Action during its 
duration.  
 
 
 
12.  FUNDING SOURCES 
 
12.1. Some costs in a proposal are in Euros, and others are in a national currency. Is 
there a defined standard conversation rate that should be used? 
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The estimated costs in the application form must be presented in Euros. However, for applications 
in which the funding sources/budget were estimated using another currency, the exchange rate for 
the month preceding the submission of the proposal should be used. If this is not available at the 
time of proposal submission, use the rate of the preceding month available here: 
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/inforeuro/index.cfm?Language=en. 
 
The exchange rate used for the calculations should be noted on the application form(s) where 
requested.  
 
 
12.2. Can there be applicants that do not contribute to the co-financing?  
 
Yes, as long as other funding sources in a proposal can match the share of the EU co-financing. 
 

12.3. When defining the percentage of requested funding per activity, is it possible to 
request a percentage higher than the maximum co-funding rate allowed by the call text 
for some activities and lower for others, as long as the overall requested funding does 
not exceed the maximum percent of the total eligible cost? 

No. The requested funding rate for an activity must not exceed the maximum co-funding rate 
specified in section 12.2.1 of the specific call text.   
 
 
13.  SUB-CONTRACTING 
 
13.1. Can project management activities be outsourced (sub-contracted)? 
 
Article II.1.3 of the model grant agreement does not allow the coordinator to subcontract any part 
of its project management tasks. 
 
If it is necessary to subcontract certain elements of the proposed Action or activities, this must be 
clearly identified in the application form, in particular application form parts A3.1 and A3.2 and 
application form part D, question 2.3.  
 
Proposals involving sub-contracting must explain: 
 

• What tasks will be subcontracted and for what reasons 
• How the potential subcontractor will be selected in accordance with the provisions of the 

grant agreement (transparency, equal treatment and best value for money) 
• The basis on which the estimated cost of subcontracting has been calculated 

 
 
13.2. As a public body, we are planning to carry out some activities of the proposed 
Action with our own resources and will involve private entities in carrying out some 
activities of the proposed Action, requiring a public procedure for the selection of these 
agents (on an open and competitive basis). Is this possible under the current calls and 
would it have any impact regarding the evaluation of the award criteria? 
 
Yes, it is possible to apply for CEF Telecom funding if some of the activities of the proposed Action 
will be subcontracted. If it is necessary to subcontract certain elements of the proposed Action or 
activities, this must be clearly identified in the application form, in particular application form parts 
A3.1 and A3.2 and application form part D, question 2.3.  
 
Proposals involving sub-contracting must explain: 

• What tasks will be subcontracted and for what reasons 
• How the potential subcontractor will be selected in accordance with the provisions of the 

grant agreement (transparency, equal treatment and best value for money) 
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• The basis on which the estimated cost of subcontracting has been calculated 
 
Having to subcontract implementation of some activities does not in of itself affect the evaluation 
of proposal, however the elements listed above will be evaluated under the relevant award criteria. 
 

13.3. What are the requirements in terms of audits in case of subcontracting? Can costs 
be charged by invoicing, or should also timesheets be provided? To what extent do audit 
means differ from the normal proof that has to be provided by participants? 

The minimum set of documents related to subcontracting is the subcontracting agreement and the 
related invoice(s). The subcontracting agreement should define the goods or services to be 
provided and extent of supporting documentation that the subcontractor(s) needs to submit to 
justify their invoice(s). This may or may not include supporting documentation, such as detailed 
timesheets, depending on the contract terms. The invoice should specify what is being charged for 
in terms of the work or services performed and the period during which the work was carried out. 

Annex VII of the Model Grant Agreement provides details on the controls that a certifying auditor 
needs to perform to provide a Certificate on Financial Statements. 
 
 
13.4. Can a project coordinator subcontract promotional activities, and if so to what 
extent? 
 
Please see Q13.2 above. In addition, please note however that in accordance with the grant 
agreement, the coordinator shall not subcontract any part of its coordination tasks to the other 
beneficiaries or to any other party. 

 
14.  NON-PROFIT RULE 
 
14.1. If our proposal is successful and we are awarded a €150,000 grant, do we as the 
coordinator have to follow EU procurement rules when distributing the funding to the 
other consortium members?  

The EU public procurement rules do not apply to the distribution of the grant to the individual 
grantees. However, in accordance with the grant agreement, where the implementation of the 
action requires the procurement of goods, works or services, the beneficiaries shall award the 
contract to the tender offering best value for money, or as appropriate, to the tender offering the 
lowest price. Depending on the legal status of the beneficiaries, the EU procurement rules may 
apply. The beneficiaries shall retain sole responsibility for compliance with the provisions of the 
Grant Agreement.   

 
15.  APPLICATION FORMS 
 
15.1. Do well-established DSIs need to refer to the building blocks listed in Section 1.1 of 
the Annex to Regulation (EU) No 283/2014 under the application form part D, section 
2.1 "Maturity of the proposed solution, Building Blocks and/or integration with existing 
components of the DSI"? 
 
Yes. As explained in the Guide for Applicants, the proposal should explain whether and how the 
proposal builds on Building Block DSIs as listed in Section 1.1 of the Annex to Regulation (EU) No 
283/2014. 
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15.2. Who can sign the application documents in the absence of the authorised person? 
Can a person give power of attorney to sign on behalf of an authorised officer? 
 
It is up to each entity to determine the person who is authorised to sign the application.   
 
 
15.3. Application form part D offers a limited scope with regard to details on work 
definition, especially when compared to the defined award criteria. Are further detailed 
arrangements explained in the Guide for Applicants?  
 
Yes. Please see section 4.5 of the Guide for Applicants, which provides specific 
information/guidance on how to structure and organize the information that should be provided in 
part D.  
 
Furthermore, application form part A allows for more information on the activities (including tasks, 
deliverables, performance indicators as relevant) and milestones per proposed Action (see also 
section 4.2 of the Guide for Applicants). It is expected that most of the information on the different 
activities and working steps of a proposed Action will actually be presented in application form part 
A, instead of application form part D.  
 
 
15.4. Can you give an indication as to how many A4 pages you expect a technical 
proposal to contain (excluding the administrative requirements)?  
 
The length of application form parts A, B and C will be mostly determined by the number of 
applicants and activities – thus there is no real baseline length for these parts.  
 
However, application form part D requests the technical and financial information on the proposed 
Action and addresses questions which will provide the basis for its evaluation. Application form part 
D should not exceed 30 printed A4 pages, all tables included.  
 
 
15.5. Regarding the technical proposal: application form part A requests a description of 
maximum 2000 characters, while application form part D requests more information 
about the project and no character limit is specified. What is the expected length per 
Form?   
 
The summary (scope and objectives of the proposed action) to be provided in application form part 
A is indeed limited to 2000 characters in the TENtec eSubmission tool. More detailed information is 
expected to be provided in the activities/milestones descriptions in the application form part A, as 
well as in application form part D. Application form part D should not exceed 30 printed A4 pages, 
all tables included. See also question 15.4. 
 
 
15.6. Are there any parts of the application that refer to the technical proposal and is 
this all the information you need about the proposed Action?  
 
According to the requirements of the Work Programme and the call for proposals, all information 
that is relevant for the evaluation of a proposal must be included in the relevant parts (A, B, C, D) 
of the application form. If additional information to support, illustrate or provide evidence in 
support of an element described in the application form is considered necessary, these may be 
included in annex, but these are not systematically read during the evaluation. 
 
 
15.7. In application form part A3.1, does an Action correspond a to a "work package"? 
Do the milestones correspond to a "summary of performance indicators"? 
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An "Action" is a set of activities for which CEF funding is requested, by means of an individual 
financing Decision (grant agreement) established following a call for proposals. It corresponds to 
what in other programmes/calls was called a "project". 
 
A proposal should clearly describe the activities that are planned in the proposed Action.  
Therefore, activities essentially correspond to the "work packages" referred to in other 
programmes/calls. An activity may be composed of one or more tasks. The number of activities 
must be commensurate with the complexity of the work and the overall value of the proposed 
action. The planning should be sufficiently detailed to justify the proposed effort and allow progress 
monitoring by INEA. 
 
Finally, milestones indicate how the activity and its associated expected result(s) are progressing. 
Each milestone should relate to at least one activity and have an expected completion date. By 
definition, milestones are one-off events and therefore the means of verification should be easy 
and concrete. Examples of milestones include: publication of a tender, signature of contract, 
purchase of equipment, completion of dissemination measure, etc. 
 
For further information, please see the Guide for Applicants.  
 
 
15.8. In what language(s) should a proposal be submitted?  
 
It is strongly recommended that proposals are submitted in English. 
 
 
15.9. We would already like to submit application form part A2.3 to our Ministry for its 
endorsement, however the form has DRAFT across the front. Can this form be accepted? 
 
Yes. As long as the application form part A2.3 is duly completed, signed and stamped by the 
Member State representative, this form will be accepted with the DRAFT watermark.  
 
 
15.10. Should security, ethics, privacy and legal analysis be addressed in the course of a 
project, and if so, in what part of the application form? 
 
Where relevant, these aspects should be included as part of the activities of the proposed Action. 
The applicant may also provide further information on these aspects in question 2.4 of application 
form part D, if these are important to the objectives of the proposed Action.   
 
 
15.11. Section 3.2 of application form part A states: "For multi beneficiary actions, 
please split regional budgets and applicant’s self-financing by applicant". Please clarify.   
 
The requested information on the budget needs to be separated by applicant, and not listed as a 
total. In the eSubmission tool, indicate the financial contribution to the proposed Action for each 
applicant from all applicable sources of financing, including the applicant's own budget, state and 
regional/local budgets, other sources and the amount of CEF Telecom funding requested. All 
amounts must be in euros. The totals per category will be calculated automatically. See section 4.2 
of the Guide for Applications on Costs for more information. 
 
 
15.12. Is it required to list deliverables, indicators and milestones separately or is it ok 
to just include milestones (e.g. one milestone = one deliverable or indicator)? 
 
As explained in the Guide for Applicants (section 4.2), you must include information about 
deliverables and milestones in your application; indicators as relevant. The deliverables are linked 
to activities, which are parts of the proposed Action that are distinct technically, financially or over 
time and which contribute to its completion. The implementation of an activity leads to the 
completion of an expected result or output - and/or one or more deliverables.  
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Milestones indicate how an activity and its associated expected result(s) are progressing. The 
number of milestones per activity will depend on the complexity of each activity. Each milestone 
should relate to at least one activity, have an expected date, and preferably any corresponding 
intermediate steps, including deliverables as relevant.  
 
See also question 15.12.  
 
 
15.13. How can weekly meetings be listed as milestones without setting a new milestone 
for every week of the 30-month project period? 
 
As explained in the Guide for Applicants (section 4.2), milestones indicate how an activity and its 
associated expected result(s) are progressing. The number of milestones per activity will depend 
on the complexity of each activity. Each milestone should relate to at least one activity, have an 
expected date, and preferably any corresponding intermediate steps, including deliverables as 
relevant. 
 
By definition, milestones are one-off events and therefore the means of verification should be easy 
and concrete. Examples of milestones include: publication of a tender, signature of contract, 
purchase of equipment, starting, completion of dissemination measure, etc. Thus, unless a weekly 
meeting is clearly related to a distinct activity with a set result, they should not be separately 
indicated as such. See also question 15.11.  
 
 
15.14. Are there any best practice examples available for an activity? Or a benchmark for 
the number of activities which should be included in a proposal? 
 
No. There are no specific best practice examples available for an activity or number of activities to 
be included in a proposal, since this depends on the scope and complexity of what the proposed 
Action covers. Please see part 4.2 of the Guide for Applicants, which notes that an "activity" is a 
part of the proposed Action that is distinct technically, financially or over time and which 
contributes to the completion of the proposed Action. It may be composed of one or more tasks. 
The implementation of an activity leads to the completion of an expected result or output, and/or 
one or more deliverables (ex. report, specification, demonstrator, etc). The description of an 
activity should encompass the description of the tasks to be implemented, list of deliverables, 
performance indicators as relevant.  
 
 
15.15. What is the difference between a "milestone" and a "verifying milestone"? 
 
Milestones indicate how the activity and its associated expected result(s) are progressing. The 
number of milestones per activity will depend on the complexity of each activity. Each milestone 
should relate to at least one activity, have an expected date, and preferably any corresponding 
intermediate steps, including deliverables as relevant. In this case, a "verifying milestone" is the 
milestone which proves an activity is complete. 
 
Please see section 4.2 of the Guide for Applicants under "Activities and Milestones" and questions 
15.11 and 15.12 for more information.  
 
 
15.16. In the application form part A2, what should be the legal entity status chosen in 
case the applicant is an EU Member State Ministry: Member State/EEA country or as 
public sector undertaking or body established in the EU/EEA? 
 
Applicants that are Member State Ministries must select "Member State/EEA country" as the legal 
status in this part of the application form.  
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15.17. Is it possible to receive the application documents in a EU language rather than 
English? 
 
All parts of application forms under CEF Telecom calls are available only in English, as uploaded on 
the call webpages.   
 
 
15.18. In our multi-applicant proposal, there is one public body applicant that will 
contribute to the action without receiving any EU funding. Does this entity need to sign 
and provide the "Financial Identification Form" as well as Annex B-I of the application 
form B "Declaration form of public or private undertakings or bodes applying for the EU 
financial aid"? 
 
Yes, even if the applicant will not be receiving any EU funding, it still needs to provide both these 
documents together with the application form. 
 
 
15.19. Should application form part D also contain information about the activities and 
the budget of the proposal or does this information need to be included ONLY in 
application form part A?  
 
Information on activities and budget of the proposed Action must be provided in relevant parts of 
the application form part A. It may also be provided in the application form part D, for example, if 
the applicant wishes to provide further details and explanations. Care must be taken that the 
information in both parts of the application form is consistent.  
 
 
15.20. Which projects should we list in the section on Related Actions in the application 
form part A. Should we list our CEF project which is currently on-going?  
 
In the section on Costs in the application form part A (A3.2), the applicants are asked to list all EU 
grants awarded which are related to the proposed Action. These grants may come from CEF or any 
other EU funding programme. If the applicants have received an EU grant in the past but for a 
project that is not related to the current proposal, such grants do not need to be identified.  
 
 
15.21. In the list of applicants on Application Form A (Section A2), what is the legal 
status of a Ministry, and more specifically a Ministry which will act as the coordinator of 
the project?  
 
The legal status of a Ministry, acting as either an applicant or a coordinator, should be listed as 
Member State/EEA country. 
 
 
15.22. Are all parts (bank statements, bank signatures) of the Financial Identification 
Form mandatory for public authorities? 
 
Yes.  
 
 
16.  SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 
 
16.1. Is it possible to add a Gantt chart as an annex or should it be included in 
application form part D? 
 
Yes. However, the chart will only be considered as complementary, as all information relevant for 
evaluating a proposal's quality should be included in application form itself.  
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17.  eSUBMISSION MODULE / SUBMISSION PROCEDURE 
 
17.1. Can my application, or parts of it such as the annexes, be submitted by e-mail? 
 
No. Applications must be submitted electronically using the TENtec eSubmission module. 
Application form part A must be encoded directly in the TENtec eSubmission module. Application 
form parts B, C, D and their annexes must be completed, scanned where applicable and uploaded 
in the TENtec eSubmission module's "Supporting Documents" section. See Guide for Applicants for 
more information.  
 
 
17.2. Are "person-months" required for the calculation of the budget in the 'Costs' 
section in the TENtec eSubmission module? 
 
The financial tables in the Costs section of the TENTec eSubmission module require the costs to be 
entered by activity by year. These costs can relate to personnel costs or any other costs, 
depending on how the activities of the proposed Action are structured and organised. It is not 
necessary to indicate in these financial tables the underlying assumptions of the calculation of the 
personnel costs. Only the total costs per activities per year need to be indicated.   
 
 
17.3. I'm locked out of the application and cannot seem to edit any data anymore. Is 
there a reason for this?  
 
Your application locks when another user is making changes. This is explained in more detail on 
page 14 of the Guide for Applicants: "Locking/unlocking an application: If several users have 
access to the same application, the application is automatically locked as soon as one of the users 
starts to edit the information. To unlock the application form so that other contributors can edit it, 
click on the red "Unlock Application" box in the upper right corner of the screen. Inputting any data 
will once again lock the application. No simultaneous editing is possible. Click on the "What's this?" 
link next to the "Unlock Application" for more information."  
 
 
17.4. Is it necessary to designate the specific cost per activity in the TENtec eSubmission 
tool, like it is indicated in the Word document on application form part A3.2? 
 
Indeed, the specific costs per activity per year must be entered into the "Costs" table in the TENtec 
eSubmission tool, similarly to how it is indicated in the Word version of the application form part A. 
See section 4.2 of the Guide for Applications on Costs for more information. 
 
 
17.5. I'm having a problem adding new contributors to our application. They all have 
new ECAS usernames, but they do not appear when I search for them in TENtec.  

New ECAS users should connect to the TENtec eSubmission module at least once at 
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/tentec/grant/esubmission/, or alternatively register their account via 
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/tentec/grant/asr/registration before they can be added as 
contributors by the application owner. 

 
17.6. When we submit our applications, do we need to create a separate ECAS account in 
the name of our company, or is a personal ECAS account sufficient? 

There is no need to create a separate ECAS account in the name of a company. The personal ECAS 
account of the person submitting the proposal is sufficient.  
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17.7. We are having problems adding the description of an activity under the "Activities 
and Milestones" tab in the TENtec eSubmission module. Are there specific character 
limits for this section?  
 
Yes. The description of an activity must not be longer than 4000 characters. 
 
 
18.  GRANT PREPARATION/MANAGEMENT 
 
18.1. Is there a distinction between partners of a consortium/beneficiaries who will 
receive EU funding and associated partners of a consortium/beneficiaries who will 
contribute to the action without receiving any EU funding?  
 
Yes. It is possible for beneficiaries to participate in the implementation of an action at their own 
costs under the terms foreseen in Article I.18 of the model grant agreement, found on each 
individual call webpage, accessible via this link: http://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-
facility/cef-telecom/apply-funding/cef-telecom-calls-proposals-2015.   
 
 
18.2. How many months does the approval of a request for payment take? 
 
This depends on the type of payment involved. If there is a pre-financing payment, the Agency 
must pay the amount of the pre-financing to the coordinator within 30 days upon entry into force 
of the grant agreement. The time limit for interim payments (when applicable) and the balance of 
payment is 90 days. See Article 4 of the model grant agreement, available on each individual call 
webpage, for more information on payment arrangements.  
 
 
18.3. What if the real costs of the Action differ from the estimated costs provided in the 
original application? 
 
The proposal can only be prepared on the basis of estimated costs. However, all payments during 
the lifetime of the action are based on the real costs incurred. The individual grant agreement 
indicates a maximum amount of funding per proposal and a maximum funding rate. Note that the 
payments are always equal to or lower than the maximum amount awarded to the action and 
indicated in the individual grant agreement. 
 
 
18.4. If one partner in a large, multi-beneficiary consortium does not correctly justify its 
part of the general request for payment, how should the coordinator manage this? 
 
Article II.1.3 of the model grant agreement describes the general obligations of the coordinator, 
which include acting as intermediary for all communications between the beneficiaries and the 
Agency. Among other, the article also states that the coordinator shall inform the Agency of any 
event likely to affect or delay the implementation of the Action. The coordinator should therefore 
bring to the Agency's attention any situation affecting the Action and suggest an appropriate 
solution for ensuring the Action's continued implementation. Costs statements or parts of the 
Action which are not adequately justified according to the Grant Agreement provisions may lead to 
suspension or reduction of payment in accordance with articles II.24.3, II.24.4 or II.25.4.  
 
Management of internal issues between beneficiaries is the responsibility of the project coordinator. 
If such problems relating to payments or the undertaking of activities have a negative impact on 
achieving the overall objectives of the action, it is up to the coordinator to find the best solution 
that does not impinge the overall realisation of the action.  
 
It is strongly advised that for multi-beneficiary Actions, beneficiaries sign an internal 
cooperation/partnership agreement regarding their operation and coordination. This agreement 
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should include all internal aspects related to the management of the beneficiaries and the financial 
and technical implementation of the proposed Action. Although not required for a proposal's 
submission, having this type of agreement in place may help to demonstrate a proposal's maturity 
during the evaluation. In addition, it will help the coordinator to best address potential problems 
which could arise during the project implementation.  
 
 
18.5. Is the Member State authority approving a proposal submitted under the CEF 
Telecom calls financially liable, should the applicant not deliver the requested results 
and is incapable to pay back the money which was granted to it?  
 
A Member State is not financially liable in case beneficiaries of a grant do not meet the requested 
results.   
 
 
18.6. What is the procedure for Member States certifying the financial statements of the 
beneficiaries of actions financed under CEF Telecom? 
 
No standard procedure exists regarding the manner in which the costs are certified, meaning that 
Member States decide themselves on how to carry out in practice the certification of the costs.  A 
Member State certification template document is available for the project reporting purposes. 
 
 
18.7. How will INEA and the Commission validate the results of the actions  when the 
beneficiary claims the project is finished and requests the payment of the EU funding? 

Concrete modalities for validation of activities of the funded actions are currently under 
development and will depend on the specific DSI that the action addresses. 
 
 
18.8. How is the grant awarded to successful applicants in a multi-beneficiary proposal? 
Is the grant distributed solely to the coordinating beneficiary or is it distributed to each 
beneficiary according to the activities it is planning to carry out?  

Section II.1.3 of the model grant agreement outlines the general obligations and role of the 
coordinating beneficiary. Point (e) notes that the coordinator "ensures that all the appropriate 
payments are made to the other beneficiaries without unjustified delay…". It is therefore the 
responsibility of the coordinator to make the appropriate payments to each of the beneficiaries 
after each payment from the Agency to the coordinator.  
 
 
18.9. When is the best case scenario for the grants to be signed?  

As indicated in the section 6 "Timetable" section of the call texts, the preparation of the grant 
agreements for successful proposals are indicatively foreseen as of May 2016 (call 1) and as of 
June 2016 (call 2). The grant agreements have to be signed at the latest 9 months after the call 
deadline, i.e. by mid-October (call 1) and mid-December (call 2). The precise signature dates will 
vary depending on the progress of preparation with the beneficiaries of an individual grant. 

 
18.10. May additional applicants be added to a proposal at the grant agreement 
preparation stage if there is a redistribution of tasks amongst the applicants and the 
overall budget does not change? 

Yes. However, these changes to the consortium must be justified during the grant agreement 
preparation and there cannot be any changes to the maximum CEF funding allocated to the action. 
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In addition, new applicants will have to fulfil the selection criteria as outlined in section 9 of the call 
text, i.e undergo a Financial and Operational Capacity Check. 
 
 
19.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
19.1. How/where do I need to register to be considered as expert for the evaluation of 
proposals submitted under the CEF Telecom calls?  
 
More information on becoming an independent expert for evaluating proposals under all sectors of 
the CEF is available here: https://ec.europa.eu/inea/news-events/newsroom/independent-experts-
needed-evaluation-proposals-cef. 
 
  
19.2. Will my personal data be stored by INEA and/or the European Commission?  
 
An applicant's reply to the grant application involves the recording and processing of personal data 
(such as name, address and CV), which will be processed pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 
on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community 
institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data. Unless indicated otherwise, an 
applicant's replies in the application and any personal data requested are required to assess an 
applicant's grant application in accordance with the specifications of the call for proposals and will 
be processed solely for that purpose by INEA as data controller for this purpose. See section 15 of 
the call text for more information. 
 
 
19.3. How/where do I need to register to be considered as expert for the evaluation of 
proposals submitted under the CEF Telecom calls?  
 
More information on becoming an independent expert for evaluating proposals under all sectors of 
the CEF is currently available here: https://ec.europa.eu/inea/news-
events/newsroom/independent-experts-needed-evaluation-proposals-cef. 
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